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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

KATINA COLBERT, etal., g
Plaintiffs, g
V. g Civil Action No. 13-531 (RMC)
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, et al., g
Defendants. ;
)
OPINION

Katina Colbert is a intellectually disabled woman whe unable to care for
herself. While livingn a group home managed bgtal Care Services$nc., a contractofor the
District of ColumbiaKatina Colberbecame pregnaaindgave birth to daby girlwith severe
medicalproblems. The infant, TC, spent most of her short life in the hospital and died when she
wasjust over a year oldKatina Colbers mother, Jacqueline Colbestjes the Districandits
contractor allegingconstitutional violations and various toassing from KatinaColbert’s
pregnancy and TG’death Kelvin Martinez, a man who lived in the same group hamKatina
Colbert,asserts that he hathprotectedexualcontact withKatina Colbertand that he is the
father of TC. Mr. Martinez, through his guardian and mother, Maxima Krahling, moves to
intervenein this suit Plaintiffs and Defendants oppose intervention. As explained below, the
motion to intervene will be denied.

. FACTS

Jacqeline Colbert, mother dfatina Colbertand grandmother of TGues
individually, as next friend dkatina Colberandpersonal representative of the Estate of TC

The Amended Complaint namtige District of Columbia and its contract@igtal Care Services,
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Inc. (Total CarepsDefendants Ms. Colbert alleges that ROO5Katina Colbertwasdiagnosed
with moderate to profound retardation, witte communication skills of a fivgearold and
overall age equivalency of a tgearold. Am. Compl. [Dkt. 29] § 9. Ithe fall 0of2008,Katina
Colbert was hospitalized and underwent a psychological assessment, wherehyg disgnosed
“in the severe range of retardation” and was “found tfafjeisk of exploitation by others as
evidenced by her past record of rape and sexual ablésef["10. After her hospitalization, she
began residing in a group horat wasoperated by Total Carender contraatith the District
Id. § 12. Total Care and thedbict allegedlyknew ofKatina Colbert limited abilities,
vulnerabilities, diagnoses, and needtieenty-four hour supervision, and theylegedlyknew of
herfertility andher past and current sexual adtivild. 1 1314. The Amended Complaint
further alleges that &endants “facilitated and encouraged” Katina Coltehave “unprotected,
nonconsensual sexual intercourse with various men for extended periods of time’'inld010.
1 17. Total Care and the Distriallegedly knew ofspecific findings that [Katina Glberf was
unable to care for herself or make life decisions for herself” tmlgd totake necessary steps to
protect Katina Colberfrom foreseeable harih Id. I 18. Katina Colberbecame pregnant and
prematurely deliveredC, a baby girl,on April 3, 2011.1d. T 20. Katina Colber@llegedly was
provided“little to no prenatal carduring most of her pregnancy” and “was not taken to the
hospital promptly when it was clear she was in labddl.”] 19.

Because Katina Colbentas unable to care for her chillhcquelineColbert vas
awardedoint legal custodyf TC, shared with Katina Colbert, and shas awarded sole
physical custody of TCId. 1 3, 5, 21.TC was born with significant health problems reaqgar
multiple sugeriesandnecessitatingxtendecospitalization; she diefidlom medical

complicationson April 18, 2012, shortlgfter her first birthdayld. T 22.



The Amended Complaint contaiffisteen Counts, asserted against both
Defendants, unless otherwise noted:

Count Negligence,;

Count IWrongful Birth;

Count lI—Breach of Fiduciary Duty;

Count IV—Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress;

Count V—Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress;

Count VI—Wrongful Death;

Count VII—Survival Act, D.C. Code 88 12-1Gk,seq

Count VIll—Violation of D.C. Code 8§ 4%404(a)(3) &(4) (against
Total Care);

Count IX—Violation of D.C. Code 88 -1301.02,et seq & 7-
1305.14;

Count X—Violation of D.C. Code 88 -1301.02,et seq & 7-
1305.13 (against the District);

Count XI—Violation of Due Process and Equal Protection under
the Fifth Amendment pursuant to 42 U.S.C13B3 (against the
District);*

Count XI—Sex Discrimination and Harassment in Violation of
Title IX, 20 U.S.C. 8 1681;

Count Xlll—Violation of the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C.
88 701.et seq;

Count XIV—Violation of the Consumer Protection Procedures
Act, D.C. Code 88 28-290%f seq (against Total Care)

Count XV—Punitive Damages (against Total Care)

Id. 119125-171.

! Because Count XI alleges a violation of the Fifth Amendment pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983,
the Court has federal question jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331.



Maxima Krahling,mother and guardian of Kelvin Martinez, seeks to intervene as
a plaintiff in this casén order toassertMr. Martinez’s rights as the putative father of T€ee
Mot. to Intervene [Dkt. 16]; Proposed Intervenor Reply [Dkt. 21]. Ms. Krahling alligeser
son is intellectually disable@nd he lived in the Total Care group home during the same time
thatKatina Colbertived there.ld., Ex. 1 (Proposed Intervenor Complaint) [Dkt. 16-1] 1 3, 8,
12. Shealso alleges thd€atina Colbertand Mr. Martinez were “allowed . . . and encouraged to
have unprotected, nonconsensual sexual intercourse for extended periods of time from on or
about 2008 through 20T(nd that as a resukatina Colberbbecame pregnant and delivered
TC. Id. § 12. Ms. Krahlingeeks to file a complaint alleging negligence, negligent hiring and
retentionagainst Total Cares well asvrongful birth, breach of fiduciary duty, negligent
infliction of emotional distress, intentional infliction of emotional distressngia death, and
claim for under th&urvival Actagainst Total Care and the Distri¢t. fff 1850. All parties
oppose. DC Opp’n [Dkt. 17]; PI. Opp’n [Dkt. 19]; Total Care Opp’n [Dkt. 20].

[11. ANALYSIS
A. Intervention asof Right

An applicant may intervene as of right when the applicant (1) makes a timely
motion; (2) has an interest relating to the property or transaction that idjaetsf the action;
(3) is so situated that the disposition of the action may as a practical matter impaiede img
applicant’s ability to protect that interest; and (4) where the applicargi®sts are not
adequately represented by the existing parties. Fed. R. Civ. P.s&{@s®ierra Club v. Van
Antwerp 523 F. Supp. 2d 5, 6 (D.D.C. 2007).

Ms. Krahling, as guardian for Mr. Martinez, does not have a right to intervene in

this casdecause shdoes not havan interest in the subject of this litigatiowhile she asserts



that Mr. Martinez “has been identified as the putative fatine an heir to T.C. in the Estate of
T.C.,” seeMot. to Intervene at 6, she cites no support for that proposiktsnMartinez’s
paternityhas not been establisheé.putative father has no legal interest in the estate of a child
born out of wedlock until parenthood has been establisBedD.C. Code § 19-316. Under
D.C. law,a fatherchild relationship is established by an adjudication of a man’s parentage,
consent to the use of artificial insemination, or an unrebutted presumption of garédi& 16-
909(a) see alsad. § 16-908 (“A child is the legitimate child of any parent under which a parent-
child relationship has been established pursuant to § 16-909 .Sectjon 16909(a) states that
a rebuttablgoresumption of parentage can be established if the putative father and mdtleer of t
child were married or had attempted to be married at the time of conception or timgh, if
putative father and the mother had married or attempted to marry after thie lointh, or if the
putative father has acknowledged paternity in writitdy.

Here, there is no allegation that Katina Colbert and Mr. Martinez were ever
married or attempted to marrfturther, he record does not contain any written statement fr
Mr. Martinez acknowledging paternity. In fact, due to his incapacity, it apjpesis not able to
do so. Instead, Ms. Krahling asserts that in the custody case regardirspd@Cnlbert v.
Colbert 2011 DRB 1427 (D.C. Superior Ctatina Colbert ad her mother identified Mr.
Martinez as the father aiMr. Martinez was awarded visitatigights. SeeMot. to Intervene at
5. The record reveals thahd@danuary 10, 2012, the Superior Court granted joint legal custody of
TC to Ms. Colbert and her daughter, Katina, and granted sole physical custody to Iist. Col
Id., Ex. 2 (Order Granting Custody). The Order did not establish paternity, but did allow Mr

Martinez visitation “at the discretion @¥1s. Colber{ and at [her] residence with reasonable



notice” from Mr. Martinez Id. at 1. Contrary to Ms. Krahling’s allegatidfatina and
Jacqueline Colbedispute Mr. Martinez’s claim of parentag8eePl. Opp’n at 1.

In the custody casdhe D.C. Superior Court ordered Mr. Martinez to take a
paternity test.SeePl. Opp’'n, Ex. 1 (Sept. 28, 200rderRequiring Paternity Test Mr.
Martinez is indigenand has been unable to find a public source to pay for a paternity test.
Proposed Intervenor Reply at 5veéD two years have passgdce theSuperior @urt ordered a
paternity testiad Mr. Martinezstill has notakenone. As a resultMr. Martinez has not
established paternity.

Ms. Krahling's asserted interest in the present litigation is as the guardim of
Martinez, the alleged father of TC. Because she has not demonstrated rdegsi in this suit,
Ms. Krahling’s motion to intervenas of rightwill be denied.

B. Permissive Intervention

A court, in its discretion, also may permit intention where the applicant
(1) makes a timely motion; (2) has a claim or defense; and (3) that claim or deferesevgttar
the main action a common question of law or fact. Fed. R. Civ. P. 2é¢bglso EEOC v. Nat'l
Children’s Ctr, 146 F.3d 1042, 1046 (D.C. Cir. 1998). In addition to those three elements set
out in Rule 24(b), courts also requihat there be an “independent ground for subject matter
jurisdiction.” EEOC 146 F.3d at 1046.

There is no independent ground for subject matter jurisdiction over Ms.
Krahling’s Proposed Intervenor Complainthich allege®nly claims under D.C. law:
negligence, negligent hiring and retention, wrongful birth, breach of fiduciary medgjigent
infliction of emotional distress, intentional infliction of emotional distresengful death, and

claim under th&urvival Act. Ms. Krahling erroneously contends that diwggarisdiction



appliesto the Proposed Intervenor Complaimiversity jurisdiction applies to suits between
citizens of different states where the amount in controversy exceeds tloé $dH)000.See28
U.S.C. § 1332(a). However, diversity jurisdiction does not apply to the District of Columbia;
like a State, the District is not a “citizen” of itself and therefore cannot‘biéizen” of a State
different from Maryland.Barwood, Inc. v. District of Columhi&02 F.3d 290, 292 (D.C. Cir.
2000);Longv. District of Columbia820 F.2d 409, 413-14 (D.C. Cir. 1987).

Even if the District of Columbia were noparty, diversity jurisdiction would be
lacking because there are litigants from the same state on opposingSadesakash v. Am.
Univ.,, 727 F.2d 1174, 1178 n.25 (D.C. Cir. 1984). Ms. Krahling seeks to sue as guardian for Mr.
Martinez who lives in the District of ColumbiaThe legal representative of “an infant or
incompetent shall be deemed to be a citizen only of the same Staterdartheriincompetent.”
28 U.S.C. § 1332(c)(2)SinceMr. Martinez and Total Care are both residents of the Distieet,
Proposed Intervenor Compl. 11 3, 7, éhisrno diversity of citizenship in this matter.

Ms. Krahling further argues that she should be permitted to intervene here in
order to “streamline” litigation brought against the District and Total CaesMot. to
Intervene at 7. As guardian of Mr. Martinez, she previously filed suit in D.C. Sueniot
against the District and Total Care, allegsmme of the same causes of action she seeks to assert
here wrongful birth, wrongful death, aralclaim undethe Survivor Act. SeeKrahling As
Guardian of K.M. v. District of Columbj&2012 CA 002866 B (D.C. Sepor Ct.filed Mar. 30,
2012). Even if MsKrahling met the critea for intervention, it cannot be said that allowing her
to proceed here would serve the interest of efficiency. Ms. Krahling'src&eperior Couris
in an advanced stagasdiscovery is closed and the case isediation. See id; see alsdIs.

Opp’n at 2.



[11. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Ms. Krahling’s motion to intervene as plaintiff

[Dkt. 16] will be denied. A memorializing Order accompanies this Opinion.

Date April 29, 2014 /sl

ROSEMARY M. COLLYER
United States District Judge




